Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 19-0455

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA 19-0455

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

vs.

JACOB WILLIAM ABEL,

Defendant and Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On Appeal from the Eleventh Judicial District Court, Flathead County, the Honorable Dan Wilson presiding

APPEARANCES:

KATHLEEN FOLEY P.O. Box 9452 Missoula, MT 59807

Attorney for Defendant/Appellant

TIMOTHY FOX Attorney General for Montana C. MARK FOWLER Chief, Appellate Services Bureau P.O. Box 201401 Helena, MT 59620-1401

TRAVIS AHNER Flathead County Attorney's Office 820 South Main Kalispell, MT 59901

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 7, 2018, Jacob Abel was charged with Count I: Partner or Family Member Assault, Strangulation and Count II: Assault With a Weapon, both felonies. A warrant was issued for his arrest, setting bail at \$20,000 and his Arraignment was set for August 2nd, 2018. On July 19th, 2018 and pursuant to the warrant, Mr. Abel was arrested by a Flathead County Sheriff's Deputy, and the next day initially appeared in custody before the court. The court appointed the Office of the Public Defender to represent him, and on July 29th, 2018 he posted bond and was released on standard conditions. He appeared with appointed counsel and pled Not Guilty at his arraignment. His trial began on April 10th, 2019. On April 11th, 2019, when the State rested its case, the court determined the matter would be in recess for the day. The court then, outside the presence of the jury, inquired of defense counsel whether Mr. Abel would be testifying or calling any witnesses.

His counsel advised the court that he would not be calling witnesses but was not certain as to whether Mr. Abel would testify, and needed to discuss this with his client. Tr. 359. The court advised that the case would resume at 9 the following morning, and that the parties would reconvene earlier so that the court could hear that decision. The next morning, the court again inquired about the defendant's potential testimony, and his counsel advised the court that Mr. Abel would not be testifying. Tr. 364-365. After settlement of jury instructions, the jury retired to deliberate. Approximately two hours later it returned verdicts of Guilty on Count I, Strangulation of a Family Member, and Not Guilty on Count II, Assault with a Weapon. The court set sentencing for June 13th, 2019. At the sentencing hearing, two witnesses were called by the defense, and Mr. Abel also testified on his own behalf. After hearing argument from the parties, the court sentenced him to the Department of Corrections for a period of five years, all suspended.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

3

At the trial, once the state had rested, and the jury had been dismissed for the evening, the court engaged in a colloquy with defense counsel as to whether the defense would call any witnesses, or whether Mr. Abel would testify. Tr. 359. It was determined that when the parties reconvened the following morning, the defense could inform the court as to its decisions. The following morning, outside the presence of the jury, the court again inquired of defense counsel as to whether Mr. Abel would be testifying or planning to call any other witnesses. Tr. 365. In response to the court's inquiry, defense counsel asks his client what he "is going to do." He replies "I really want Chris Kidney", which is evidently a reference to a person he hoped to call as a witness for his defense. His attorney responds "That's nice. We don't have that as a witness. Are you going to testify or not?" The court asks if Mr. Abel and his attorney want some time alone and his attorney responds "No. We've had plenty of moments alone." The court says "Okay." Defense counsel says "We're out of time." The court again says "Okay." Mr. Abel then asks if he may "say something." His attorney responds with "We need to talk alone then. You can't say it in open court or you will incriminate yourself. This is a courtroom." Then he says (evidently to

the court) "I'll be back in a moment." Tr. 365. At that point, the court grants a brief recess to permit private discussion between Mr. Abel and his attorney.

When the parties reconvene, the court asks defense counsel how his client wishes to proceed. Defense counsel replies "He wishes to remain silent, your honor. We won't be presenting any witness testimony." Tr. 365.

At sentencing, the defense called two character witnesses for Mr. Abel. Both essentially testified that events could not have happened as outlined by the state at trial, since the Jacob Abel they knew was not violent and was in fact a very gentle person. Tr. 487, 493. Mr. Abel then took the stand and testified that he wanted "to tell the court exactly what happened." The court commented "You didn't testify at trial." Mr. Abel responded "Yes sir, I ... " and his attorney interrupted and told the court "He did not." Mr. Abel said "I did not. I wanted to. I was talked out of it at the last moment. Really didn't get to make a decision. But I ..." Again, he is interrupted by his attorney, who says "So let's go through it." Tr. 500-501.

5

Mr. Abel then testifies as to the events at issue in the trial and essentially presents a defense of innocence to the conduct of which he was convicted. He is then briefly cross-examined by the prosecutor and steps down. After hearing sentencing arguments from both counsel, and before pronouncing sentence, the court states that it did not find the testimony of defense witnesses, Tr. 491, or of Mr. Abel himself to have been "...a good use of time for this Court to hear evidence, either from Mr. Strizich or from Mr. Abel, that the jury trial or the jury's verdict was a farce, that these proceedings ought not to be respected, that the jury verdict ought to be either disbelieved, discounted or even impeached." Tr. 526. The court further advises Mr. Abel that it did not find his own testimony convincing, after hearing the trial evidence and receiving the guilty verdict. Tr. 526. The court sentences him to five years with the Department of Corrections, all suspended.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A criminal defendant's decision to testify in his own defense at trial, or not, involves a fundamental constitutional right. The decision is his to make, and must be knowing and voluntary, which is to say free from any coercion. For this reason, the standard of review for this

6

court is plenary. <u>State v. Charlie</u>, 2010 MT 195, ¶ 21, 357 Mont. 355, 239 P.3d 934; <u>Williams v. Bd. of County Comm'rs</u>, 2013 MT 243, ¶ 23, 371 Mont. 356, 308 P.3d 188.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Mr. Abel was deprived of a fundamental constitutional right when the court did not elicit from him directly a statement as to whether or not he would testify at his trial, but instead accepted from his attorney a waiver of that right, even though there were indications during the colloquy between the court and defense counsel that counsel's statement might not accurately reflect Mr. Abel's wishes. This deprivation was not harmless error beyond a reasonable doubt.

ARGUMENT

I. MR. ABEL WAS DEPRIVED OF HIS FUNDAMENTAL CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO TESTIFY IN HIS OWN DEFENSE WHEN THE COURT ACCEPTED A WAIVER FROM HIS COUNSEL.

This court has held that a criminal defendant's right to testify in

his own defense at his trial is a fundamental constitutional right.

... The Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article II, Section 25 of the Montana Constitution guarantee an individual the right against self-incrimination. A necessary corollary to the right against self-incrimination is the right to testify in one's own behalf. *Rock v. Arkansas*, 483 U.S. at 53, 107 S.Ct. at 2710 (quoting *Harris v. New York*, 401 U.S. 222, 225, 91 S.Ct. 643, 645 (1971).

– <u>In re J.S.W.</u>, 2013 MT 34, ¶18, 369 Mont. 12, 202 P.3d 741.

* * * * *

In addition, the Fourteenth Amendment secures the right of a criminal defendant to choose between silence and testifying in his own behalf. *Rock*, 483 U.S. at 51, 107 S.Ct. at 2708-09 ("The right to testify on one's own behalf at a criminal trial has sources in several provisions of the Constitution. It is one of the rights that 'are essential to due process of law in a fair adversary process.' " (quoting *Faretta v. California*, 422 U.S. 806, 819 n. 15, 95 S.Ct. 2525, 2533 n. 15 (1975)).

-<u>In re J.S.W.</u>, *supra*, ¶19.

This court has also long held that a fundamental constitutional

right can not be waived by defense counsel, but must be waived by the

defendant himself, and further, that:

[b]efore a defendant can waive a fundamental right, "such waiver, to be recognized by the courts, must be informed and intelligent for there can be no waiver by one who does not know his rights or what he is waiving. *State v. Allison*, (1944), 116 Mont. 352, 360, 153 P.2d 141, 145. In holding that the defendant in *Allison* had not expressly waived his right to remain silent, this Court stated:

The rights guaranteed by the Constitution apply to all alike—the well-informed who know their rights as well as to the ignorant who never heard of such rights. There stands the right like the rock of Gibraltar and it so remains protecting the life and liberty of every person whether the particular person knows about it or not. *Allison*, 116 Mont. at 360, 153 P.2d at 144-45.

– <u>State v. Bird</u>, 2002 MT 2, 308 Mont. 75, 43 P.3d 266, ¶36.

In addition,

[i]n the context of a criminal prosecution, this Court has stated that defendant's attorney cannot waive a defendant's fundamental rights as a matter of convenience. *State v. Tapson*, 2002 MT 292, ¶38, 307 Mont. 428, 41 P.3d 305. Before accepting a waiver of rights, a court must ascertain on the record that the criminal defendant has been apprised of his rights, understands what rights he is waiving and waives those rights voluntarily. *Tapson*, ¶27.

- <u>State v. Finley</u>, 2003 MT 239, ¶33, 317 Mont. 268, 77 P.3d 193.

This court last addressed the question of a defendant's waiver of the right to testify in his own defense in 1991. In <u>State v. Hamm</u>, 250 Mont. 123, 818 P.2d 830 (1991) this court "...agree[d] that criminal defendants have a constitutional right to testify" <u>Hamm</u>, *id*. at 833, but held that a trial court does not have a duty to inform a defendant of that right, and that a defendant waived the right to testify simply by not testifying. *Id*. at 833.

In light of its rulings in <u>Finley</u> and <u>Bird</u>, *supra*, this court should now overrule its holding in <u>Hamm</u>, and hold that a criminal defendant cannot waive his fundamental right to testify by his silence or through his attorney, but must do so on the record, personally and explicitly.

The Hawai'i Supreme Court addressed this issue in 1995, in a case that has become the leading case on the subject, and set forth a procedure that its trial courts must follow before accepting a waiver of the right to testify from a criminal defendant. This involves a two-part colloguy with defendants, which could take place at the outset of the trial outside the presence of the jury, or after the state rests its case. The first part of the colloquy mandates that the trial court advise the defendant of his constitutional right to testify, as well as his right not to testify. The second part requires the court to engage in a "meaningful colloguy" with the defendant to ascertain whether he understands those rights, and furthermore, and equally important, that he understands the decision is up to him, and therefore cannot be made for him by his attorney. That court set forth its reasoning as follows:

> A defendant's right to testify in his [or her] own defense is guaranteed by the constitution of the United States and Hawai'i and by a Hawai'i statute.

The right to testify in one's own behalf arises independently from three separate amendments to the United States Constitution. It is one of the rights guaranteed by the due process clause of the fourteenth amendment as essential to due process of law in a fair adversary process...

The right to testify is also guaranteed to state defendants by the compulsory process clause of the sixth amendment as applied through the fourteenth amendment ...

Lastly, the opportunity to testify is also a necessary corollary to the Fifth Amendment's guarantee against compelled testimony, since every criminal defendant is privileged to testify in his [or her] own defense, or to refuse to do so.

– <u>Tachibana v. State</u>, 79 Haw. 226, 900 P.2d 1293 (1995), at 1299.

Thus, we hold that in order to protect the right to testify under the Hawai'i Constitution, trial courts must advise criminal defendants of their right to testify and must obtain an on-the record waiver of that right in every case in which the defendant does not testify.

–<u>Tachibana</u>, *supra*, at 1303.

In another case following Tachibana, the Hawai'i high court

reiterated the justification for the rule and set out its required colloquy

in detail:

An on-the-record waiver assures that the defendant is "aware of [the] right to testify and that [the defendant] knowingly and voluntarily waive[s] that right."

- State v. Celestine, 142 Haw. 165, 415 P.3d 907 (2018).

Beyond the advisement of rights,

[t]he second component of the <u>Tachibana</u> colloquy involves the court engaging in a true "colloquy" with the defendant. <u>State v. Hann</u>, 130 Hawai'i 83, 90-91, 306 P.3d 128, 135-36 (2013). This portion of the colloquy consists of a verbal exchange between the judge and the defendant "in which the judge <u>ascertains the defendant's understanding</u> of the proceedings and of the defendant's rights." *Id.* at 90. 306 P.3d at 135 (quoting <u>Black's Law Dictionary</u> 300 (9th Ed. 2009)).

– <u>Celestine</u>, *supra*.

Mr. Abel's right to testify in his defense at trial was violated when the court accepted a cursory waiver of that right by his counsel, notwithstanding indications that he wished to testify. Tr. 364-365. This court has previously held that the right to testify is a fundamental due process right. <u>J.W.S.</u> It is well-established by this court that a fundamental constitutional right can only be waived by the criminal defendant personally. <u>Bird, Finley</u>. This court should therefore find and hold, that a court cannot accept a waiver of any fundamental constitutional right, including the right to testify, from anyone but the defendant himself, and then only after providing the advisement and engaging in a colloquy like the one outlined in the Hawai'i cases cited herein.

Other jurisdictions have also found and held similarly.

12

The distinction between constitutional rights for which procedural safeguards are required to guarantee that waiver is voluntary, knowing and intentional, and other constitutional rights of the defendant in a criminal case, is founded on at least two considerations. First, some rights are so inherently personal and basic that fundamental fairness of a criminal trial is called into question if they are surrendered by anyone other than the accused, or if the accused relinquishes them in any manner other than voluntary knowing and intentional waiver. *See Johnson v. Zerbst*, 304 U.S. 458, 58 S.Ct. 1019, 82 L.Ed. 1461 (1938). Second, establishing waiver of such a right in court on the record helps assure that the waiver is effective and facilitates meaningful appellate review without significantly impeding trial court proceedings.

> - <u>People v. Curtis</u>, 681 P.2d 504, 511 -512 (Colo. 1984).

* * * * *

A close reading of relevant authority in light of these considerations persuades us that the right to testify is so fundamental that the effectiveness of its waiver must be tested by the same constitutional standards applicable to waiver of the right to counsel.

– <u>Curtis</u>, *supra*.

A criminal defendant's right to testify in his own defense, to be

heard and seen by the jury and perhaps by the public at large, is such a

fundamental one, that the defendant himself must have the ability to

make that decision even against the advice of counsel. The Second

Circuit Court of Appeals highlighted this principle, holding that

[a] defendant in a criminal case has the right to testify on his own behalf. See Rock v. Arkansas, 483 U.S. 44, 49, 107 S.Ct. 2704, 97 L.Ed.2d 37 (1987). We have held that the right to testify is "personal" and, therefore, can be waived only by the defendant. Brown v. Artuz, 124 F.3d 73, 77, (2d Cir. 1997). Thus, "regardless of strategic considerations that his lawyer concludes weigh against such a decision," *id.*, a defendant who wishes to testify must be permitted to do so.

<u>Chang v. U.S.</u>, 250 F.3d 79, 2nd Cir. (2001).

II. THE TRIAL COURT'S ERROR WAS NOT HARMLESS BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT

Ordinarily, the deprivation of a defendant's right to testify in his own defense would not be subject to harmless error analysis, since naturally there is no record of testimony that was not given. However, in this very unusual case, there is some indication of what the testimony would have been, because the defendant gave a summary version of his testimony at the sentencing hearing. That being so, the State will likely argue that this Constitutional error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. It was not.

In Mr. Abel's case, not only did he not waive his right to testify

personally, knowingly and voluntarily, there were indications that he did in fact want to testify but was not permitted to voice those wishes. Tr. 364-365. He ultimately did express more explicitly his desire to have testified in his defense at his trial. He did this at his sentencing hearing, when he told the court that he had wanted to testify, but "was talked out of it at the last moment. Really didn't get to make a decision." Tr. 500-501.

The fact that Mr. Abel was deprived of his right to testify in his own defense at his trial, was not, after the fact, rectified (nor could it have been) by the court's comments at the sentencing hearing, when it indicated it was not convinced by his testimony at that juncture. Tr. 526. At that point, the judge had of course heard the testimony of the complaining witness and knew the verdict. The court was equally dismissive of the testimony of Mr. Abel's witnesses at sentencing. The first, Thomas Strizich, testified, when asked if his friend Jacob Abel was "a violent person or not," that "[h]e's the opposite of that, totally. He's very caring and giving." Tr. 487. And that while his then-girlfriend (the state's complaining witness) was "a notorious alcoholic," that Jacob himself "doesn't drink." Tr. 487. And further that she "was getting money out of Jacob to gamble, and to drink" while he watched her four year old daughter, and that he couldn't have inflicted any injury on this woman "because that's not Jacob." Tr. 490. The court interrupted his testimony to comment that Mr. Abel had been convicted and that it was not interested in hearing the witness' "lay opinion about whether the jury was correct or not." Tr. 491. Mr. Abel's other witness, Matthew Veneman, also testified that he had "never" seen Jacob Abel behave violently toward anyone. Tr. 493.¹

If Mr. Abel had been permitted to testify at his own trial, the jury – made up of twelve of his fellow citizens – could have been swayed by his testimony, or that of others whom he may have wanted to call in his defense. Those jurors, as they weighed not only the state's evidence, but the defendant's testimony, could have determined *him* to be the credible one, as opposed to the state's complaining witness. This is so because in the normal course of events, a criminal defendant would have prepared his testimony with his attorney prior to testifying. In Mr. Abel's case, since he was not in custody, this could have included going

¹ These lay witnesses were not providing the court with learned legal argument against the verdict reached by the jury in the absence of their or Mr. Abel's testimony. Rather, they were simply expressing their view of their friend in response to questions asked of them.

into the courtroom and stepping onto the witness stand, to be questioned and "cross-examined" by his attorney. Even short of that, in preparing for his testimony, he would have learned what types of questions he likely would be asked by the prosecutor on cross-examination, and other methods designed to lessen his nervousness in the trial setting – all of which could have had a positive impact on the jury. His testimony at sentencing was, by way of contrast, reluctantly facilitated by his attorney, and was that of a nervous and now desperate man, trying to explain what happened to the judge who was about to sentence him. Whether or not the jury would have believed him, is of course unknowable. But there is certainly a reasonable possibility that his testimony could have changed the outcome of the trial in his favor.

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