04/27/2021

Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 19-0455

### STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

JACOB WILLIAM ABEL,

Defendant and Appellant.

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLEE**

On Appeal from the Montana Eleventh Judicial District Court, Flathead County, The Honorable Dan Foley, Presiding

#### **APPEARANCES:**

AUSTIN KNUDSEN

Montana Attorney General BREE GEE Assistant Attorney General 215 North Sanders P.O. Box 201401 Helena, MT 59620-1401 Phone: 406-444-2026 Fax: 406-444-3549 Bree.Gee2@mt.gov KATHLEEN FOLEY Attorney at Law P.O. Box 9452 Missoula, MT 59807-9452

ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT AND APPELLANT

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

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

This Court should affirm Abel's conviction because Abel fails to meet his threshold burden to establish that the district court erred. The district court followed this Court's longstanding precedent that a trial court should not question the defendant directly about his choice to testify on the record. The court properly communicated with defense counsel, in Abel's presence, to determine whether Abel waived his right to testify. There is no error and therefore no basis for this Court to conduct either harmless error review or plain error review. Abel asks this Court to reverse *State v. Hamm*, 250 Mont. 123, 818 P.2d 830 (1991), but does not and cannot show that *Hamm* is manifestly wrong. Abel resurrects Hamm's failed argument that a trial court should conduct a colloquy with a criminal defendant and obtain an on-the-record waiver of defendant's right to testify. This issue has been long settled by *Hamm*'s adoption of the Ninth Circuit's careful reasoning in *United States v. Martinez*.

The Ninth Circuit, in a split with other circuit courts, continues to apply the *Martinez* analysis and hold that a court should *not* require an on-the-record colloquy to obtain a valid waiver. The Ninth Circuit's rationale maintains the defendant himself retains the ultimate decision about whether to testify. It provides a defendant the best opportunity to make an informed choice about whether to testify. The defendant's attorney is the only person with whom a defendant can share all relevant facts that impact the crucial decision about whether the defendant testifies and where defendant can understand the legal ramifications of waiving his arguably more fragile right to remain silent.

The United States Supreme Court has never imposed a duty upon trial courts to advise defendants of their right to testify and to obtain an on-the-record waiver. The Supreme Court has let stand at least one state court's decision that expressly declined to impose that duty. There is a split between circuit and state courts as to whether trial courts have such a duty. Abel urges this Court to adopt the holdings

from circuit and state courts who have rejected *Martinez*'s rationale. The *Martinez* position remains the better approach as it best protects constitutional rights.

Abel cites factually distinguishable Montana cases, *Bird* and *Finley*, to erroneously assert this Court must overrule its holding in *Hamm*. As *Hamm* is based upon sound reasoning and not manifestly wrong, there is no basis for this Court to depart from stare decisis.

By implication, Abel has asserted that his counsel provided constitutionally ineffective assistance regarding his waiver. If Abel believes his counsel provided ineffective assistance in the advice provided to Abel concerning his decision not to testify, he can raise that claim in a state postconviction proceeding. There is no reason for this Court to invoke its sparingly used plain error review to reverse his conviction where the record does not establish that any error occurred; thus, there is nothing for this Court to review. To the extent Abel asks this Court to review the trial court's inquiry into his decision not to testify for insufficiency, the trial court had no requirement to make the record that Abel now claims was constitutionally required.

This Court should affirm Abel's conviction.

#### ARGUMENT

#### I. Standard of review

This Court's review of preserved constitutional errors is plenary. *State v. Stock*, 2011 MT 131, ¶ 16, 361 Mont. 1, 256 P.3d 899 (internal citation omitted). However, this Court has consistently held that it will not consider issues raised for the first time on appeal. *See, e.g., State v. Taylor,* 2010 MT 94, ¶ 12, 356 Mont. 167, 231 P.3d 79. "Failure to make a timely objection during trial constitutes a waiver of the objection" for purposes of appeal. Mont. Code Ann. § 46-20-104(2). *See also* Mont. Code Ann. § 46-20-701(2).

This Court may review an unpreserved claim alleging a violation of a fundamental constitutional right under the common law plain error doctrine. The "purpose of plain error review is to correct an otherwise objectionable error not objected to at trial that impacts the "fairness, integrity, and public reputation of judicial proceedings." *State v. Mercier*, 2021 MT 12, ¶ 35, \_\_\_\_ Mont. \_\_\_\_, 479 P.3d 967. (internal citation omitted). This Court "invokes[s] plain error review sparingly, on a case-by-case basis, and only 'in situations that implicate a defendant's fundamental constitutional rights when failing to review the alleged error may result in a manifest miscarriage of justice, leave unsettled the question of the fundamental fairness of the proceedings, or compromise the integrity of the judicial process." *Id.* "In so doing, we reemphasize the necessity for

contemporaneous objections to claimed error, and we caution counsel that, except in the class of cases mentioned, the provisions of § 46-20-701, MCA, will be applied in the absence of contemporaneous objection." *Finley*, 276 Mont. at 137-38, 915 P.2d at 216.

# II. This Court should not use plain error review to overrule precedent that is not manifestly wrong.

To support his appeal, Abel "bears the burden to establish error by a district court...[and] must establish such error with legal authority." *State v. Giddings*, 2009 MT 61, ¶ 69, 349 Mont. 347, 208 P.3d 363. This Court has statutory authority to review alleged errors that involve the merits of a case; failure to make a timely objection during trial constitutes a waiver of the objection except as provided in Mont. Code Ann. § 46-20-701(2). Mont. Code Ann. § 46-20-104. The "general rule is that an objection concerning constitutional matters must be raised before the trial court, and if the objection is not made, it will not be reviewed on appeal." *State v. Reim*, 2014 MT 108, ¶ 38, 374 Mont. 487, 323 P.3d 880.

This Court has long recognized that "criminal defendants have a constitutional right to testify under Art. II, § 24, Mont. Const. (1972)." *State v. Hamm*, 250 Mont. 123, 128, 818 P.2d 830, 833 (1991) *overruled on other grounds by State v. Running Wolf*, 2020 MT 24, 398 Mont. 403, 457 P.3d 218. The right to testify also "stems from several provisions of the Constitution, including

the Fourteenth Amendment's Due Process Clause, the Sixth Amendment's Compulsory Process Clause, and the Fifth Amendment's privilege against self-incrimination. *Rock v. Arkansas*, 483 U.S. 44, 51-52 (1987). For a waiver to be effective, a defendant must waive a known right knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily. *City of Kalispell v. Salsgiver*, 2019 MT 126, ¶¶ 16-18, 396 Mont. 57, 443 P.3d 504.

# A. Abel fails to meet his burden of demonstrating the district court erred.

The district court followed longstanding Montana law when it addressed defense counsel to determine if Abel waived his right to testify. This Court has determined that a district court has no duty to advise the defendant of his right to testify, nor is the court required to ensure that a defendant waives that right on the record. *Hamm*, 250 Mont. at 129, 818 P.2d at 833, adopting *United States v*. *Martinez*, 883 F.2d 750, 760 (9th Cir. 1989) *vacated on other grounds by United States v*. *Martinez*, 928 F.2d 1470 (9th Cir. 1991). In Montana, "[w]aiver of this right is presumed from the defendant's failure to testify or notify the court of his desire to do so." *Hamm*, 250 Mont. at 128, 818 P.2d at 833.

In *Hamm*, the defendant argued that "this Court should require the trial court to inform defendants on-the-record of their right to testify." *Id.*, 250 Mont. at 127, 818 P.2d at 832. The State argued the court should instead adopt the majority position of *Martinez* and not impose that duty upon trial courts. *Id.*, 250 Mont. at 128, 818 P.2d at 833. To support his argument, Hamm relied in part on *Boyd v*. *United States*, 586 A.2d 670, (D.C. App. 1991), a case that criticized the *Martinez* decision. *Id.* at 129, 818 P.2d at 833. This Court agreed with the State and adopted the majority position of the Ninth Circuit in *Martinez*. *Id.*, 250 Mont. at 128. In this case, the district court followed this Court's longstanding precedent; the court committed no error by communicating with Abel's counsel and accepting counsel's representations, made in Abel's presence, as Abel's valid waiver of his right to testify.

The district court was entitled to presume Abel's knowing and intelligent waiver by Abel "failing to testify and failing to notify the court that he wished to testify." *Id.*, 250 Mont. at 129. Following this Court's long-settled precedent, the district court did not interfere with defense strategy by engaging with Abel directly. The court allowed Abel and his attorney multiple opportunities to discuss which right to waive (the right to testify or the right to remain silent) within the protections of attorney-client privilege.

The record suggests that Abel was conflicted about whether to testify, but there is no evidence that Abel did not make the choice himself. Abel's complaint that he was "talked out of" testifying merely underscores that Abel and his attorney had a substantial conversation concerning his rights, after which Abel decided not to testify. Under *Hamm*'s longstanding holding, Abel was required to speak up if

he wanted to testify over his counsel's better judgment. Instead, he sat quietly while his attorney advised the court Abel would not testify and that the defense would call no witnesses. In hindsight, Abel may be dissatisfied with his decision, but he was not deprived of his fundamental right to testify.

There is no basis for harmless error or plain error review because Abel was not deprived of his right to testify. Deprivation of the right to testify is a constitutional error excluded from a "very limited class of cases" subject to automatic reversal. *State v. LaMere*, 2000 MT 45, ¶ 23, 298 Mont. 358, 2 P.3d 204. As trial error, deprivation of the right to testify is subject to harmless error review in which the State bears the burden of proving that the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Mercier* 2021 MT 12, ¶¶ 30-31, 403 Mont. 34, 479 P.3d 967. However, Abel fails to demonstrate that the district court erred when it followed the law. Thus, this Court is not prompted to conduct review and should affirm Abel's conviction.

Even assuming that this Court were to conclude the district court erred, Abel failed to make the requisite record for this Court to conduct harmless error review. "Trial error... can be reviewed qualitatively for prejudice relative to other evidence introduced during trial and, therefore, is not automatically reversible. *State v. Garding*, 2013 MT 355, ¶ 28, 373 Mont. 16, 315 P.3d 912. Abel argues that "there is some indication of what the testimony would have been, because the defendant gave a summary version of his testimony at the sentencing hearing." (Appellant's Br. at 14.) Though Abel did not preserve his objection for appeal, the trial court's opinion of Abel's sentencing testimony is telling. The court did not find Abel's testimony persuasive and found the victim's testimony credible. Therefore, when compared to trial evidence, Abel's hearing testimony does not establish he suffered prejudice. Abel's argument does not trigger harmless error review and the State bears no burden to prove an error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. This Court should decline to engage in harmless error review and affirm Abel's conviction.

# **B.** This Court should affirm Abel's conviction because Abel fails to demonstrate that *Hamm* is manifestly wrong.

This Court should not overrule *Hamm* because Abel has not demonstrated that its decision in *Hamm* is manifestly wrong. This Court may overrule precedent that is manifestly wrong but doing so must be a clear exception to the rule of stare decisis. *Formicove, Inc., v. Burlington N.,* 207 Mont. 189, 194-95, 673 P.2d 469, 472 (1983). *Hamm*'s sound rationale is reflected in a series of subsequent Ninth Circuit cases, which continue to use the reasoning of *Martinez*. The *Martinez* court highlighted the nuanced considerations involved with the fundamental right to testify. "The right to testify in one's own behalf is a [constitutional] right . . . essential to due process of law in a fair adversary process." *Martinez*, 883 F.2d at 754. *Hamm* restated the Ninth Circuit's important reasons in declining to impose a

duty for courts to advise defendants of their right to testify and obtain an on-the-

#### record waiver:

At least seven reasons have been given for this conclusion: First, the right to testify is seen as the kind of right that must be asserted in order to be recognized. Second, it is important that the decision to testify be made at the time of trial and that the failure to testify not be raised as an afterthought after conviction. Third, by advising the defendant of his right to testify, the court could influence the defendant to waive his right not to testify, "thus threatening the exercise of this other, converse, constitutionally explicit and more fragile right." Fourth, a court so advising a defendant might improperly intrude on the attorney-client relation, protected by the Sixth Amendment. Fifth, there is danger that the judge's admonition would introduce error into the trial. Sixth, it is hard to say when the judge should appropriately advise the defendant --- the judge does not know the defendant is not testifying until the defense rests, not an opportune moment to conduct a colloquy. Seventh, the judge should not interfere with defense strategy.

#### Hamm, 250 Mont. at 128-29.

The Ninth Circuit pointed out the incongruity of requiring a trial court to advise the defendant of his right to testify when it had no corresponding duty to advise the defendant of his right *not* to testify, so by taking the stand a defendant waives the right to remain silent "even though the record gives no explicit assurance that this waiver was knowing and intelligent." *Martinez*, 883 F.2d at 756-57. A defendant faces a difficult choice whether to preserve his constitutional right to complete silence or to testify and "put on what may be his only defense and thereby open himself to cross-examination." *Id.*, 883 F.2d at 756-57.

#### The Ninth Circuit therefore concluded

it is primarily the responsibility of counsel, not the judge, to advise a defendant on whether or not to testify, and the tactical advantages and disadvantages of each choice. For the court to discuss the choice with the defendant would intrude into the attorney-client relationship protected by the sixth amendment.

#### Id.

Here, Abel enjoyed the benefit of the Sixth Amendment right to assistance of counsel and was represented by an attorney at trial. Attorney-client privilege prevents this Court from knowing exactly why Abel did not testify and how his attorney advised him on the matter. The record does establish that the court accepted Abel's waiver only after he had met with his attorney several times. The court did not interfere with the attorney-client relationship and allowed Abel to make his choice after multiple consultations with his counsel. As *Martinez* explained, and *Hamm* recognized, the decision whether to testify is a choice best left to discussion between a defendant and his attorney. *See Martinez*, 883 F.2d at 757 and *Hamm*, 250 Mont. at 128-29. 818 P.2d at 833.

Abel asks this Court to reverse itself based upon cases that represent only one faction of state and circuit courts on the issue of waiver of right to testify. Abel cites *Chang v. United States*, 250 F.3d 79, 82 (2d Cir. 2001), which is the first time the Second Circuit ruled on whether a "defendant contending that his trial counsel has prevented him from testifying must object at trial or be deemed to have

forfeited the claim." The Second Circuit recognized "[o]ther circuits that have addressed this question have not reached uniform results." *Id.*, 250 F.3d at 83. The Second Circuit highlighted that the Eighth and Fourth Circuits followed the Ninth Circuit while the DC, Seventh, and Eleventh Circuits "held that a defendant need not object at trial to preserve a claim that counsel prevented such testimony." *Id.* The Ninth Circuit has maintained its reliance on the *Martinez* reasoning to subsequently hold that a trial court has no duty to advise a defendant on the record about his right to testify.

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